
NOTICE OF A MEETING 
Brenham Community Development Corporation 

Tuesday, August 8, 2023 @ 7:30 a.m. 
City Hall – 2nd Floor Conference Room 

200 W. Vulcan St. 
Brenham, Texas 

 
 
1. Call Meeting to Order 
 
2. Invocation and Pledges to the U. S. and Texas Flag 
 
WORK SESSION 
 
3. Discussion and Update on the FY2023-24 Budget 
 
4. Discussion and Update on D Bar B Sausage & Meats, LLC Business Expansion in the 

Southwest Industrial Park, Section III 
 
5. Discussion and Update on the Lease Agreement with Irby Construction Company for 

Approximately 28.7 Acres of Land in the Southwest Industrial Park, Section III 
 
REGULAR SESSION 
 
6. Discuss and Possibly Act Upon Minutes from the April 20, 2023 and the June 22, 2023 

Regular Meetings and the July 6, 2023 Special Meeting 
 
7. Discuss and Possibly Act Upon the Repurchase of Approximately 2.787 Acres, Owned 

by Brenham Kitchens, LLC in Accordance with the Terms Outlined in the Restrictions, 
Covenants, Easements and Conditions of Brenham Business Center and Authorize the 
President to Execute Any Necessary Documentation 

 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 
8. Texas Government Code, Section 551.071 - Consultation with Attorney and Texas 

Government Code, Section 551.072 – Deliberation Regarding Real Property – 
Consultation with Legal Counsel and Deliberation Regarding the Possible Sale, 
Exchange, Transfer and/or Acquisition of Real Property and Associated Matters 
Concerning Project Deer in the Southwest Industrial Park, Section III, in the City of 
Brenham, Texas 

 
  

1



9. Texas Government Code, Section 551.071 - Consultation with Attorney and Texas
Government Code, Section 551.072 – Deliberation Regarding Real Property –
Consultation with Legal Counsel and Deliberation Regarding the Possible Sale,
Exchange, Transfer and/or Acquisition of Real Property and Associated Matters
Concerning Project Color Guard in the Southwest Industrial Park, Section III, in the
City of Brenham, Texas

RE-OPEN REGULAR SESSION 

10. Discuss and Possibly Act Upon the Possible Sale, Exchange, Transfer and/or
Acquisition of Real Property and Associated Matters Concerning Project Color Guard
in the Southwest Industrial Park, Section III, in the City of Brenham, Texas and
Authorize the President to Negotiate and Execute Any Necessary Documentation

Adjourn 

CERTIFICATION 

I certify that a copy of the agenda of items to be considered by the Brenham Community Development 
Corporation (BCDC) on Tuesday, August 8, 2023 was posted to the City Hall bulletin board at 200 W. 
Vulcan, Brenham, Texas on Friday, August 4, 2023 at 2:30 p.m. 

Jeana Bellinger, TRMC, CMC 
City Secretary/BCDC Secretary 

Executive Sessions: The Brenham Community Development Corporation (BCDC) reserves the right to convene into executive 
session at any time during the course of this meeting to discuss any of the matters listed, as authorized by Texas Government Code, 
Chapter 551, including but not limited to §551.071 – Consultation with Attorney, §551.072 – Real Property, §551.073 – Prospective 
Gifts, §551.074 - Personnel Matters, §551.076 – Security Devices, §551.086 -  Utility Competitive Matters, and §551.087 – 
Economic Development Negotiations. 

Disability Access Statement: This meeting is wheelchair accessible. The accessible entrance is located at the Vulcan Street 
entrance to the City Administration Building. Accessible parking spaces are located adjoining the entrance. Auxiliary aids and 
services are available upon request (interpreters for the deaf must be requested twenty-four (24) hours before the meeting) by 
calling (979) 337-7567 for assistance. 

I certify that this notice and agenda of items to be considered by the Brenham Community Development Corporation 
(BCDC) was removed by me from the City Hall bulletin board on __________________ at ___________. 

________________________________________ 
Signature 

2



 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
To:  BCDC Board 
 
From:  Carolyn Miller, City Manager 
 
Subject: Update on the FY2023-24 Budget 
 
Date:  July 31, 2023 
 
At the July 6, 2023 BCDC meeting, the FY2023-24 Budget was discussed and approved by the 
Board.  However, there were some outstanding questions, and this item will provide an update and 
detailed information to the Board. 
 

1) Memo from Cary Bovey, City Attorney, regarding the reimbursement payment from 
BCDC to the General Fund for maintenance and operations of park and aquatic facilities 
and administrative support to the City. 

2) Schedule of General Fund revenues derived from park field rentals, aquatic center revenues 
and intergovernmental support (Blinn College and BISD). 

3) Aquatics Department expenditures for the FY2023-24 Proposed General Fund budget. 
4) Parks Department expenditures for the FY2023-24 Proposed General Fund budget.  

 
Please let me know if you have any questions prior to the meeting on August 8th.  Thank you.  

3



BOVEY & COCHRAN, PLLC 
 

2251 Double Creek Drive, Suite 204 ♦ Round Rock, Texas  78664 ♦ Phone: (512) 904-9441 Fax: (512) 904-9445 
cary@boveycochran.com 

 
Confidential / Privileged Attorney-Client Communication 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
TO: Carolyn D. Miller 
 City Manager/BCDC President 
 
FROM: Cary L. Bovey, City Attorney 
 
DATE: August 1, 2023 
 
RE: Reimbursement Payment for Administrative Support Costs 
 
A question has been raised regarding whether the Brenham Community Development Corporation 
(“BCDC”) may legally fund maintenance and operation costs for City parks and recreation 
facilities, specifically whether the BCDC may reimburse the City of Brenham (“City”) for 
administrative support services provided by the City staff to the BCDC. 
 
Section 505.303(a) of the Texas Local Government Code provides: 
 

Sec. 505.303. PAYMENT OF MAINTENANCE AND OPERATING COSTS; 
ELECTION. (a) The costs of a publicly owned and operated project purchased or 
constructed under this chapter include the maintenance and operating costs of the project.1 

 
There is a statutory process by which the voters of the City may petition for an election to prohibit 
the payment of maintenance and operation costs related to a project.2 However, such an election 
is not necessary where the voters have previously approved such costs at an election held by the 
City.3 On May 6, 1995 the City held an election under Section B of the Development Corporation 
Act (now referred to as Type B economic development corporations) regarding approval of a sales 
tax rate of 3/8 of one percent. The voters approved the 3/8 cent economic development sales tax 
at said election. The wording of the ballot proposition stated: 
 

The adoption of a sales and use tax within the City for the development and operation of 
park facilities and the promotion and development of new and expanded business 
enterprises at the rate of three-eighths of one percent under the Development Corporation 
Act, Section 4B. 

 
                                                 
1 TEX. LOC. GOV’T CODE § 505.303(a). 
2 TEX. LOC. GOV’T CODE § 505.303(b). 
3 TEX. LOC. GOV’T CODE § 505.303(c); see also Tex. Att’y Gen. Letter Opinion No. 98-062 (1998). 

4



 
Memo to Carolyn D. Miller, City Manager/BCDC President  August 1, 2023 
Confidential / Privileged Page 2 of 2 

Pursuant to the ballot proposition approved by the voters in 1995, the BCDC is authorized to pay 
operational costs related to park facilities, including but not limited to administrative expenses. 
Accordingly, as part of the costs of operation of park facilities, the BCDC may reimburse the City 
of Brenham (“City”) for administrative support services provided by City staff to the BCDC. 
 
Further, in 2016, the BCDC and the City entered into an “Agreement for Management, 
Administrative and Technical Services Between the City of Brenham and Brenham Community 
Development Corporation” (“Agreement”) in 2016 for the City to provide assistance to the BCDC 
“in managing, administering and providing technical services for the economic development 
programs and projects approved by the BCDC” due to the BCDC not having its own staff to 
provide these types of services. In exchange for the services provided by the City to the BCDC, 
the BCDC is authorized to reimburse the City for costs or expenses incurred by the City in 
providing the services to the BCDC as described in the Agreement. This Agreement renews 
annually unless either party provides written notice to the other party of its intent to not renew the 
Agreement at least 30 days prior to the end of the then current term. Such notice of non-renewal 
has not been issued by either the BCDC or City and the Agreement remains in effect. As authorized 
by the Agreement, the BCDC may reimburse the City for administrative support services provided 
by City staff to the BCDC. A copy of the Agreement is attached to this memorandum.   
 
Please let me know if you have any questions or if I can provide additional information. 
 
 
 
 
 

5



AGREEMENT FOR MANAGEMENT, ADMINISTRATIVE, AND

TECHNICAL SERVICES BETWEEN THE CITY OF BRENHAM AND

THE BRENHAM COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

This Agreement is made and entered into by the City of Brenham, a home- rule municipal
corporation situated in Washington County,  Texas  ( hereinafter " CITY"),  and the Brenham

Community Development Corporation, an economic development corporation formed pursuant
to the Industrial Development Act of 1979, now codified in Chapter 501, et seq., Texas Local

Government Code ( hereinafter` BCDC").

WHEREAS, the BCDC does not have management, administrative, or technical staff

necessary to carry out its powers and functions as provided by applicable law; and

WHEREAS, the CITY desires to provide management, administrative, and technical

staff necessary for the BCDC to carry out its powers and functions as provided by applicable
law, and in order to promote local economic development and to promote new and expanded

business and commercial activity in the City; and

WHEREAS, article 3, § 52- a of the Texas Constitution and Chapter 380 of the Texas

Local Government Code authorize the CITY to establish and provide for the administration of a

program to provide personnel and services of the City to the BCDC to promote local economic
development and to stimulate business and commercial activity in the CITY; and

WHEREAS, the CITY is authorized to contract with public or private entities to carry
out statutorily authorized functions; and

WHEREAS, the CITY and BCDC believe that this Agreement is necessary in order to
ensure the most effective operation of the BCDC in carrying out its powers and functions as
provided by applicable law; and

WHEREAS, the CITY hereby determines that the BCDC' s promotion of local economic
development and the stimulation of business and commercial activity in the CITY, and the
benefits accruing to the CITY as a result thereof, constitutes adequate consideration for the
CITY' s provision of management, administrative, and technical services to the BCDC pursuant

to this Agreement;

NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual undertakings hereinafter set

forth and for adequate consideration, the sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the
parties agree as follows:

6



1.  CITY agrees, within the sole discretion of the Brenham City Manager, to utilize CITY
employees, personnel, funds, and other resources designated by the City Manager to
assist the BCDC in carrying out its powers and functions as provided by applicable law,
in order to promote local economic development and to promote new and expanded

business and commercial activity in the CITY.  It is the express purpose of this
Agreement to have the City Manager, or his designee( s), to implement, administer, and

carry out the duties that an executive director or other staff of the BCDC would have in
managing,   administering,   and providing technical services for the economic

development programs and projects approved by the BCDC, in accordance with the
policies and directives of the BCDC. Any and all employees of the CITY providing
services to the BCDC pursuant to this Agreement shall at all times remain CITY

employees under the direction and supervision of the City Manager or his designee( s).

2.  All services provided by the CITY to the BCDC shall be deemed to be a program to
provide personnel and services of the City to the BCDC to promote local economic
development and to stimulate business and commercial activity in the CITY as
authorized by article 3, § 52- a of the Texas Constitution and Chapter 380 of the Texas

Local Government Code.  BCDC further agrees to reimburse the CITY for any out-of-
pocket costs or expenses incurred by the CITY in providing the services described
herein to the BCDC. In the event the BCDC does not timely reimburse the CITY for
said costs or expenses as required herein, the CITY shall be authorized to deduct and

retain the amount of any delinquent payment due to the CITY upon receipt of and out
of any economic development sales tax revenues received from the Comptroller of
Public Accounts for the State of Texas, in addition to any other remedy available to the
CITY at law or equity. The CITY and the BCDC acknowledge and agree that the
respective obligations and undertakings of each party as set forth herein constitute
adequate consideration to the CITY and BCDC.

3.  This Agreement shall commence on the day of 2016,

and shall remain in effect for a period of one  ( 1)  year.  This Agreement shall

automatically renew annually for a subsequent one ( 1) year term unless either party

provides written notice of termination to the other party at least thirty ( 30) days prior to
the end of the then current term. Notwithstanding any other provision herein, either
party hereto may terminate this Agreement for convenience, with or without cause,
upon thirty (30) days written notice to the other party.

4.  This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas,

including all applicable constitutional provisions, statutes, ordinances, and resolutions.
Venue and jurisdiction of any suit or right or cause of action arising in connection with
this Agreement shall be exclusively in Washington County, Texas.

2

7



5.  In the event any one or more of the provisions contained in this Agreement shall for

any reason be held to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any respect, then such
invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision thereof and
this Agreement shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal, or unenforceable provision
had never been contained herein.

6.  This Agreement constitutes the sole agreement of the parties hereto, and supersedes any
prior understandings or written or oral contracts between the parties respecting the
subject matter defined herein. This Agreement may only be amended or supplemented
by mutual agreement of the parties hereto in writing.

7.  This Agreement and all of the covenants herein shall inure to the benefit of and be
binding upon CITY and BCDC respectively and their successors, assigns, and legal
representatives. However, neither party shall have the right to assign this Agreement
without the express written consent of the other party.

EXECUTED this day of 40/ re/ Y),6ti 2016.

CITY OF BRENHAM, TEXAS BRENHAM COMMUNITY

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

OokaitA r

MILTON Y. TATE,     . 

oolong,
long

TERRY K. ' OBERTS, PRE,.     ••• E F
MAYOR OF.••....    ; N.     rO,     G      '''

O

i:

4
0/

s* , 
i," 

Vf.1)% N
ATTEST.ATTEST:  o*

yyy
y

7i ''••.....®••••G 4' i..,,   

II1....

A,o\y0

402_,       
Eaa a at°

t'       

l0,   C3' ` vL1o J
J1 NA BELLINGER; TRMC, CMC NAME:       ,•,

CITY SECRETARY TITLE: e-j mumzk' ktAtU4-   js

3

8



9



10



11



12



13



 
MEMORANDUM 
 
To:   Brenham Community Development Corporation (BCDC)   
   Board of Directors  
 
From:   Teresa Rosales, Economic & Community Development Director 
 
Subject:  D Bar B Sausage & Meats, LLC Expansion 
 
Date:   August 3, 2023 
 
 
City staff recently received an inquiry from a contractor who is working with D Bar B Sausage & 
Meats, LLC (we know them as Kountry Boys Sausage) on a potential expansion to their existing 
building at 1909 Longwood Drive (R46714). They are asking for a meeting to discuss the 
preliminary site plan to see if moving forward is appropriate.  
 
This expansion is to their processing facility cooler in order to accommodate increased 
production.  Once they have reviewed plans and CC&Rs with city development staff, we will 
bring an additional update. 
 
A tour of the facility was recently conducted by myself, Mayor Kenjura and City Manager 
Carolyn Miller.  The business began in 1998 and is currently operated by Brian Bender, 
President and Todd Steele, Vice President.  Their food (smoked meats, baked goods and 
seasonings) is sold across the Southern United States and Mexico through 1,200 retail partners 
including Food Town, Kroger, Fiesta and Walmart. 
 
A discussion was had about the other property purchased in the Southwest Industrial Park on 
8/1/22 known as R63671, along Industrial Blvd.  The current economic environment with 
increased interest rates has made construction on that site cost prohibitive for now. However, 
they do have an immediate need.  The current location for their tractor/trailer and box truck 
parking is changing hands, so they need to find a new parking location.  They inquired about the 
possibility of using this land for that purpose.  After reviewing CC&Rs and discussions with 
Stephanie Doland, this is an appropriate use for this tract.  
 
 

14



 
MEMORANDUM 
 
To:   Brenham Community Development Corporation (BCDC)   
   Board of Directors  
 
From:   Teresa Rosales, Economic & Community Development Director 
 
Subject:  Irby Lease 
 
Date:   August 3, 2023 
 
 
City staff recently received a 30-day notice of the intention to terminate the lease at 2501 
Longwood Drive. 
 
They expect to vacate the property on or before August 14, 2023. 
 
I had a conversation with Jaxxon Grisham at Irby Construction and reminded him of the clause 
to ensure that the property is brought back to pre-lease condition.  
 
 

15



16



 

BCDC Minutes 
April 20, 2023 

MINUTES 
 

BRENHAM COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 
 

April 20, 2023 
 
 
A regular meeting of the Brenham Community Development Corporation was held on Thursday, 
April 20, 2023 at City Hall, Conference Room 2A, 200 W. Vulcan, Brenham, Texas beginning at 
7:30 a.m. 
 
Board members present were Charles Moser, Darrell Blum, John Hasskarl, Bill Betts, Jim 
Kolkhorst, Ken Miller, and Gary Crocker 
 
Board members absent: None 
 
City of Brenham staff members present were Carolyn Miller, Jeana Bellinger, Stephanie Doland, 
Teresa Rosales, and Stacy Hardy. 
 
Others present: City Attorney Luke Cochran was present via telephone. 
 
1. Chairman Charles Moser called the meeting to order 
 
2. Invocation and Pledges to the U. S. and Texas Flags 
 
3. Discuss and Possibly Act Upon the Minutes from the March 23, 2023 and April 3, 2023 

Special Meetings 
 

Amotion was made by Bill Betts and seconded by Gary Crocker to approve the minutes 
from the March 23, 2023 and April 3, 2023 Special Meetings. 

 
Chairman Moser called for a vote. The motion passed with the Board voting as follows: 
 

Chairman Charles Moser    Yes 
Vice Chairman Darrell Blum    Yes 
Board Member Bill Betts    Yes 
Board Member Gary Crocker    Yes 
Board Member John Hasskarl    Yes 
Board Member Jim Kolkhorst   Yes 
Board Member Ken Miller    Yes 

 
  

17



 

BCDC Minutes 
April 20, 2023 

4. Discuss and Possibly Act Upon FY2022-23 Second Quarter Financial Statement 
 

Director of Finance – Stacy Hardy presented this item to the Board. Hardy explained the 
following details about the financial statements: 
 

Sales Tax Revenue  
• Sales tax revenue budget increased by 8% over the prior year’s budget. October 

thru February collections are $164,209 above budget. 
 
Financial Statements – Fund 250  

• Economic Development: Currently has an operating surplus of $593,741 for the 
second quarter of FY23.  All operating expenditures are within budgeted levels. 

• Recreation: Ended the third quarter with an operating surplus of $608,556.  Seven (7) 
of the seventeen (17) parks and recreation approved projects were completed as of 
March 31, 2023. 

 
BCDC Capital Projects – Fund 252  
 The available fund balance of $1,068,602 remains for the Brenham Family Park 

project expenditures.  As of the end of the second quarter, the Texas Parks and 
Wildlife Grant of $750,000 had not been received. 

 
A motion was made by Darrell Blum and seconded by John Hasskarl to approve the 

FY2022-23 second quarter financial report as presented. 
 

Chairman Moser called for a vote. The motion passed with the Board voting as follows: 
 

Chairman Charles Moser    Yes 
Vice Chairman Darrell Blum    Yes 
Board Member Bill Betts    Yes 
Board Member Gary Crocker    Yes 
Board Member John Hasskarl    Yes 
Board Member Jim Kolkhorst   Yes 
Board Member Ken Miller    Yes 

 
 
The Board adjourned into Executive Session at 7:35 a.m. 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 
5. Texas Government Code, Section 551.071 – Consultation with Attorney – Consultation 

with Legal Counsel Regarding the Development of Approximately 6.413 Acres in the 
Brenham Business Center, Owned by Capital Westview Partners, LLC 

 
  

18



 

BCDC Minutes 
April 20, 2023 

6. Texas Government Code, Section 551.071 - Consultation with Attorney and Texas 
Government Code, Section 551.072 – Deliberation Regarding Real Property – 
Consultation with Legal Counsel and Deliberation Regarding the Project Stones Throw 
and Transaction Matters Involving Approximately 50 Acres in the Southwest 
Industrial Park, Section III, in the City of Brenham, Texas, and Associated Matters 

 
Executive Session adjourned at 8:36 a.m. 
 
 
RE-OPEN REGULAR SESSION 
 
7. Discuss and Possibly Act Upon Project Stones Throw and Transaction Matters 

Involving Approximately 50 Acres in the Southwest Industrial Park, Section III, in the 
City of Brenham, Texas, and Associated Matters, and Authorize the President to 
Execute Any Necessary Documentation 

 
A motion was made by Ken Miller and seconded by Jim Kolkhorst to return any earnest 

money paid by Project Stones Throw in relation to the approximately 50-acre tract in the Southwest 
Industrial Park, Section III, and authorize the President to execute any necessary documentation. 
 

Chairman Moser called for a vote. The motion passed with the Board voting as follows: 
 

Chairman Charles Moser    Yes 
Vice Chairman Darrell Blum    Yes 
Board Member Bill Betts    Yes 
Board Member Gary Crocker    Yes 
Board Member John Hasskarl    Yes 
Board Member Jim Kolkhorst   Yes 
Board Member Ken Miller    Yes 

 
  

19



 

BCDC Minutes 
April 20, 2023 

8. Board and Staff Updates 
 Economic Development 

o No update given 
 Parks & Recreation 

o No update given 
 Administration 

o Carolyn Miller advised the Board about two local businesses preparing for 
expansions: StanPac and PlanNorth (2 separate projects). 

 
 
 
The meeting was adjourned. 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Charles Moser 
Chairman 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Jeana Bellinger, TRMC, CMC 
City Secretary/BCDC Secretary 
 

20



 

BCDC Minutes 
June 22, 2023 

MINUTES 
 

BRENHAM COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 
 

June 22, 2023 
 
 
A regular meeting of the Brenham Community Development Corporation was held on Thursday, 
June 22, 2023 at City Hall, Conference Room 2A, 200 W. Vulcan, Brenham, Texas beginning at 
7:30 a.m. 
 
Board members present were Charles Moser, Darrell Blum, John Hasskarl, Bill Betts, Jim 
Kolkhorst Gary Crocker, and Ken Miller 
 
Board members absent: None 
 
City of Brenham staff members present were Carolyn Miller, Jeana Bellinger, Stephanie Doland, 
Dane Rau. Debbie Gaffey, Teresa Rosales and Tim McRoberts 
 
Others present: Mayor Pro Tem Kolby, James Whatley, Wesley Brinkmeyer, Justin Jersey, Jay 
Alexander, Richard Rolland and Luis Herrera 
 
1. Chairman Charles Moser called the meeting to order 
 
2. Invocation and Pledges to the U. S. and Texas Flags – City Manager Carolyn Miller 
 
 
WORK SESSION 
 
3. Discussion and Presentation Related to a Request from Capital Westview Partners, LLC 

for Variances to the Restrictions, Covenants, Easements, and Conditions of the Brenham 
Business Center 

 
Director of Development Services Stephanie Doland presented this item.  Doland 

explained that on May 24, 2023 City Staff received written correspondence from Richard Rolland, 
Managing Partner of Capital Westview Partners, LLC (CWP) requesting formal variances be 
considered by the BCDC for three development criteria of the CCR’s.  The variances requested by 
CWP were as follows: 

• Variance #1: A request for a reduction to the minimum building square footage (SF) to 
acreage ratio from the minimum of 7,000 SF building per acre to 3,800 SF building per 
acre.  

• Variance #2: A request for four (4) driveway entrances along a Lot frontage of 
approximately 640-feet where one (1) driveway is permitted per lot in accordance with the 
recorded CCR’s. 

• Variance #3: A request to allow the use of mercantile/retail use in addition to 
manufacturing and warehouse use where retail sales are currently disallowed per the 
recorded CCR’s.   

21



 

BCDC Minutes 
June 22, 2023 

Doland stated that the CCR’s read in Section 4: “The BCDC or its designated committee 
may, in its sole and absolute discretion, grant a variance to these covenants, conditions and 
restrictions where enforcement of one or more of the same would result in hardship to the lot 
owner, provided that such variance will not adversely affect the development plan of the Brenham 
Business Center.”  Therefore, the BCDC has the authority to grant or deny one or any combination 
of the variances requested by CWP.  The Board then discussed the details of each variance. 
 
4. Discussion and Presentation of the 5-Year Financial Outlook 
 

Strategic Budget Officer Tim McRoberts presented this item.  McRoberts provided the 
Board with the following information related to a five-year financial outlook and forecast: 
 

• Purpose of the Five-Year Forecast 
o Help analyze revenue trends and major expenditures over the course of several 

years to better prepare and forecast future BCDC operations. 
o Forecasting several years ahead can help give context beyond just current 

obligations and operations. 
o Although BCDC has independent revenue streams, economic development and 

recreation decisions can directly affect both the City’s General & Utility funds. 
• Overall Financial Outlook 
o Main source of BCDC revenue, sales tax, is very strong, 
o Partnership with Washington County allows our economic development dollars to 

go further. 
o BCDC has been able to fund major Parks & Recreation improvements while also 

being instrumental as an economic activity driver for both new and existing 
businesses. 

• Five-Year Financial Outlook & Forecast 
o Financial outlook for BCDC is very healthy.  As Brenham continues to attract new 

development these estimates should prove to be conservative. 
o There is opportunity for new programs and growth within this fund. However, in 

light of this good news it is critical to examine the challenges other City entities are 
currently facing. 

 

 
 
  

Revenue Expense Surplus(Deficit) Revenue Expense Surplus(Deficit)
2023 1,627,875$    1,247,229$       380,646$              1,468,151$     1,582,584$    (114,433)$                 
2024 1,642,160$    1,158,780$       483,380$              1,162,164$     700,000$       462,164$                  
2025 1,779,995$    1,200,000$       579,995$              1,108,459$     735,000$       373,459$                  
2026 1,836,320$    1,200,000$       636,320$              1,138,788$     771,750$       367,038$                  
2027 1,894,334$    1,200,000$       694,334$              1,170,026$     810,338$       359,689$                  
2028 1,954,089$    1,200,000$       754,089$              1,202,202$     850,854$       351,348$                  

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENTRECREATION

22



 

BCDC Minutes 
June 22, 2023 

• Long-Term General and Utility Fund Challenges to Note 
o Public Safety Programs 
o Property Tax Relief 
o Inflation, labor shortages, supply chain issues 
o Legislative changes on the horizon 
o Water Plant/Capacity Expansion 
o Impact Fees 

• Long-Term General and Utility Fund Strategies 
o Revenues 

 Current and proposed limitations on the City’s ad valorem tax, will make 
the City more reliant on other revenue streams.  Sales tax (retail) will prove 
to be the most important revenue moving forward. 

 Increases for charges for service, and growth-related fees must be increased 
to offset rising costs. 

 Intergovernmental agreements must be looked at to make sure they are fair 
and equitable. 

o Expenditures 
 Personnel remains the single biggest cost for the City moving forward (70% 

of budgets with constant upward pressure).  Most of the City’s future M&O 
property tax and sales tax revenue increases will have to go towards 
maintaining our existing staff. 

 Funding and issuing debt for the Water Plant expansion will be a significant 
challenge and will include a multitude of strategies to accomplish. 

• General Fund Snapshot Cost by Department 
o Top 5 departments and their total cost to operate are: 

 Police: $5,706,308 
 Parks: $2,928,741 
 Fire: $2,915,112 
 Streets: $2,817,299 
 Aquatics: $1,432,599 

• How Does This Relate to BCDC 
o A new approach, not only to show BCDC a wider financial picture, but to also to 

tie in the long-term outlook of all City entities. 
o It is helpful to understand the challenges the City faces on a whole when 

formulating policies and strategies. 
o Vital to look at the issues through a collective lens. 

 
McRoberts advised the Board that the FY2023-24 budget needs to have some sort of 

subsidy from the BCDC to help cover the maintenance and operations cost of aquatics and parks.  
McRoberts explained that as the costs of providing parks and aquatic services has increased it is 
getting more difficult for the City to carry the full financial burden of these operations. 
 
  

23



 

BCDC Minutes 
June 22, 2023 

5. Discussion and Update on Property Owned by B. L. Smith d/b/a Brenham Kitchens in 
the Brenham Business Center 

 
City Secretary and Director of Administrative Services Jeana Bellinger presented this item.  

Bellinger explained that Chairman Moser requested information on how the 18-month option 
period outlined in Section 5 of the Restrictions, Covenants, Easements, and Conditions for the 
Brenham Business Center affects the 2.787-acre tract purchased by Brenham Kitchens in February, 
2022. 

 
Bellinger advised that the 18-month period on the Brenham Kitchens property will expire 

on/or around August 24, 2023 and that the tract was sold for $139,350.00 ($50,000 per acre).  
Bellinger stated that the Restrictions state that if the BCDC would like to exercise their right to 
repurchase any property due to the Owner’s failure to construct, BCDC shall notify the owner in 
writing; however, if the BCDC fails to notify the Owner within six months after the expiration of 
the 18-month period, the right to re-purchase is waived. 

 
The Board asked Community and Economic Development Director Teresa Rosales to 

reach out to Brenham Kitchens and see what their plans are for the tract and to bring this item back 
for an update in August. 
 
6. Discussion and Update on the Lease Agreement with Irby Construction Company for 

Approximately 28.7 Acres of Land in the Southwest Industrial Park, Section III 
 

Community and Economic Development Director Teresa Rosales presented this item.  
Rosales explained that on August 11, 2022, the BCDC entered into a one-year lease with Irby 
Construction Company on 28.67 acres in the Southwest Industrial Park. 

 
Rosales advised that the terms of the lease are $137,375.15 ($0.11 per square foot) for the 

initial term of one (1) year, paid in advance.  The agreement also notes, “Thereafter, in the event 
the Lease Agreement is continued on a month-to-month basis, the monthly rental amount shall be 
$11,447.93, paid in advance, on or before the first day of each month.”  Rosales stated that staff is 
seeking direction on whether BCDC has an interest in continuing or terminating the lease.  The 
termination date of the lease is August 14, 2023. 
 

The Board advised that Rosales reach out to Irby Construction and see how much longer 
they need the property and to bring back an update in August. 
 
 
The Board adjourned into Executive Session at 8:15 a.m. 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 
7. Texas Government Code, Section 551.071 – Consultation with Attorney – Consultation 

with Legal Counsel Regarding the Development of Approximately 6.413 Acres in the 
Brenham Business Center, Owned by Capital Westview Partners, LLC 

 
  

24



 

BCDC Minutes 
June 22, 2023 

8. Texas Government Code, Section 551.071 - Consultation with Attorney and Texas 
Government Code, Section 551.072 – Deliberation Regarding Real Property – 
Consultation with Legal Counsel and Deliberation Regarding Approximately 44.068 
Acres in the Southwest Industrial Park, Section III, in the City of Brenham, Texas, and 
Associated Matters 

 
Executive Session adjourned at 10:08 a.m. 
 
 
REGULAR SESSION 
 
9. Discuss and Possibly Act Upon a Resolution Related to a Request from Capital 

Westview Partners, LLC for Variances to the Restrictions, Covenants, Easements, and 
Conditions of Brenham Business Center 

 
A motion was made by Darrell Blum and seconded by John Hasskarl to deny the variances 

to the Restrictions, Covenants, Easements, and Conditions of Brenham Business Center submitted 
by Capital Westview Partners, LLC on May 24, 2023. 
 

Chairman Moser called for a vote. The motion passed with the Board voting as follows: 
 

Chairman Charles Moser    Yes 
Vice Chairman Darrell Blum    Yes 
Board Member Bill Betts    Yes 
Board Member Gary Crocker    Yes 
Board Member John Hasskarl    Yes 
Board Member Jim Kolkhorst   Yes 
Board Member Ken Miller    Yes 

 
 
The meeting was adjourned. 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Charles Moser 
Chairman 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Jeana Bellinger, TRMC, CMC 
City Secretary/BCDC Secretary 
 

25



 

BCDC Minutes – Special Meeting 
July 6, 2023 

MINUTES 
 

BRENHAM COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 
 

July 6, 2023 
 
 
A special meeting of the Brenham Community Development Corporation was held on Thursday, 
July 6, 2023 at City Hall, Conference Room 2A, 200 W. Vulcan, Brenham, Texas beginning at 
7:30 a.m. 
 
Board members present were Charles Moser, Darrell Blum, John Hasskarl, Bill Betts, Jim 
Kolkhorst Gary Crocker, and Ken Miller 
 
Board members absent: None 
 
City of Brenham staff members present were Carolyn Miller, Jeana Bellinger, Stephanie Doland, 
Dane Rau. Debbie Gaffey, Teresa Rosales, Casey Redman, Tammy Jaster and Tim McRoberts 
 
Others present: Mayor Pro Tem Kolby and Councilmember LaRoche 
 
1. Chairman Charles Moser called the meeting to order 
 
2. Discuss and Possibly Act Upon the Brenham Community Development Corporation’s 

Annual Budget for Fiscal Year 2023-24: 
 

Chief Financial Officer Stacy Hardy presented the following budget highlights to the Board 
for Economic Development and Recreation: 

Economic Development Budget Summary 
• Sales tax revenue increased approximately 14% over the FY23 budget. This includes 

the anticipated addition of two major sales tax contributors for FY24 – Academy and 
Chick-fil-A.  

• Per the January 2021 interlocal agreement between the City and Washington County, 
the Brenham Washington County Development Organization (BWEDO) will 
continue to contribute $100,000 annually to Economic Development activities.  

• Anticipated revenue from the continuation of the Irby Land Lease contributes 
$137,375 to the FY24 budget.  

• No significant change to the on-going expenditures of debt service, operations, 
marketing, and Business Park maintenance.  

• Interfund loan repayment to Recreation side for funds borrowed to construct the 
detention ponds in FY20.  

• There is a request added in FY24 for an administrative support reimbursement to the 
City’s General Fund for $6,000 ($500/month).  

• Expenditure of $150,000 for incentive payment to Chick-Fil-A has been re-budgeted 
for FY24.  

  

26



 

BCDC Minutes – Special Meeting 
July 6, 2023 

• An estimated expenditure of $59,100 for the sales tax reimbursement incentive 
payment to Academy has been budgeted for FY24.  

• The James Nutt Blvd. sewer extension in the Brenham Business Center began in 
FY23 and will be completed in FY24.  

• The engineering and design for the Blue Bell Road extension was approved by 
BCDC at their January 2023 meeting and is included in the FY24 budget at 
$118,000.  

• Budgeted expenditures total $1,856,860, resulting in the use of $708,381 of reserves 
in FY24, leaving an ending fund balance of $1,270,453.  

Recreation Budget Summary 
• Sales tax revenue increased approximately 14% over the FY23 budget. This includes 

the anticipated addition of two major sales tax contributors for FY24 – Academy and 
Chick-fil-A.  

• Funding requests from Aquatics total $275,000.  
• Funding requests from Parks total $879,780.  
• Funding requests from Recreation total $4,000  
• Funding request for Parks, Recreation & Aquatics operational support of $400,000.  
• If all requests are approved, a balance of $84,012 will remain in contingency and 

fund balance reserves for Recreation are projected to be $957,329. 
 

A. Economic Development and Main Street 
 

Economic and Community Development Director Teresa Rosales presented the Board with 
the FY2023-24 Economic Development and Main Street budgets. Rosales stated that the Main 
Street budget request mirrors last year’s request of $30,000 for the Economic Impact and 
Innovation Grant (EIIG) and $21,000 for the Incentive Grant Fund.  The total ask is $51,000 from 
BCDC with a dollar-for-dollar match from Main Street raised funds. 

 
Rosales advised that the Economic Development budget reflects the County investment of 

$100,000 per year.  The following items reflect expenditures for department: 
 

Item Amount 
Personnel $   225,889 
Operations $     55,464 
Marketing $     41,600 
Programs & Partnerships $1,206,100 
Business Park Maintenance $     24,795 
Professional Services $     37,500 
Debt Service $  265,512 

Total Budget $1,856,860 
 

Rosales explained that the Professional Services estimate includes the services of a 
consultant for the creation of an Economic Development action plan that will identify target 
industries for the betterment of our community.  The proposed budget for FY 2024 is $1,856,860 
which includes 1) the Blue Bell Road Extension-Engineering & Design of $118,000 and 2) the 
James Nutt Blvd. – Sewer extension, Brenham Business Center of $828,000.  

27



 

BCDC Minutes – Special Meeting 
July 6, 2023 

A motion was made by Bill Betts and seconded by John Hasskarl to approve the Economic 
Development and Main Street budget for fiscal year 2023-24 as presented. 

 
Chairman Charles Moser called for a vote. The motion passed with the Board voting as 

follows: 
 

Chairman Charles Moser    Yes 
Vice Chairman Darrell Blum    Yes 
Board Member Bill Betts    Yes 
Board Member Gary Crocker    Yes 
Board Member John Hasskarl    Yes 
Board Member Jim Kolkhorst   Yes 
Board Member Ken Miller    Yes 

 
B. Parks and Recreation 

 
Director of Public Works Dane Rau presented the line-item budget for Parks and 

Recreation.  Rau explained that are thirteen projects totaling $1.5 million.: 
 
Aquatics = $275,000 

• Sound system update for indoor and outdoor ...............................................$75,000 
• Refurbish 3 single restrooms ......................................................................$125,000 
• Chemical room and exterior door replacement .............................................$75,000 

 
Parks = $1,158,780 

• Jackson Street Park improvements .............................................................$715,280 
• Hohlt Restrooms ventilation .........................................................................$50,000 
• Owsley Playground surface repairs ..............................................................$15,000 
• Turf mounds and homeplate (Schroeder/Dallmeyer) ...................................$27,500 
• Batting cage turf – Phase 3 (Fireman’s/Henderson) .....................................$12,000 
• Fireman’s Kitchen door replacement ............................................................$13,500 
• Fireman’s Restroom floor refurbishment ......................................................$13,000 
• Story Book panel upgrades (Fireman’s) .........................................................$8,500 
• Movies in the Park Series ...............................................................................$4,000 
• Basketball sitting areas and benches (Owsley/Hattie Mae) ..........................$25,000 

 
Board member Betts questioned whether the BCDC could legally provide financial support 

of $400,000 for the maintenance and operation of the Blue Bell Aquatics Center.  Chairman Moser 
requested that staff reach out to the City Attorney and provide an answer to Betts concerns.  Moser 
also asked that the City Attorney research the administrative support reimbursement. 

 
A motion was made by Jim Kolkhorst and seconded by Ken Miller to approve the Parks 

and Recreation budget for fiscal year 2023-24 as presented. 
 

  

28



 

BCDC Minutes – Special Meeting 
July 6, 2023 

Chairman Charles Moser called for a vote. The motion passed with the Board voting as 
follows: 

 
Chairman Charles Moser    Yes 
Vice Chairman Darrell Blum    Yes 
Board Member Bill Betts    No 
Board Member Gary Crocker    Yes 
Board Member John Hasskarl    Yes 
Board Member Jim Kolkhorst   Yes 
Board Member Ken Miller    Yes 

 
 
The Board adjourned into Executive Session at 8:39 a.m. 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 
3. Texas Government Code, Section 551.071 - Consultation with Attorney and Texas 

Government Code, Section 551.072 – Deliberation Regarding Real Property – 
Consultation with Legal Counsel and Deliberation Regarding the Possible Sale, 
Exchange, Transfer and/or Acquisition of Real Property and Associated Matters 
Concerning Project Deer in the Southwest Industrial Park, Section III, in the City of 
Brenham, Texas 

 
4. Texas Government Code, Section 551.071 - Consultation with Attorney and Texas 

Government Code, Section 551.072 – Deliberation Regarding Real Property – 
Consultation with Legal Counsel and Deliberation Regarding the Possible Sale, 
Exchange, Transfer and/or Acquisition of Real Property and Associated Matters 
Concerning Project Color Guard in the Southwest Industrial Park, Section III, in the 
City of Brenham, Texas 

 
Executive Session adjourned at 9:20 a.m. 
 
RE-OPEN REGULAR SESSION 
 
5. Discuss and Possibly Act Upon the Possible Sale, Exchange, Transfer and/or 

Acquisition of Real Property and Associated Matters Concerning Project Deer in the 
Southwest Industrial Park, Section III, in the City of Brenham, Texas and Authorize 
the President to Negotiate and Execute Any Necessary Documentation 

 
A motion was made by Jim Kolkhorst and seconded by Darrell Blum to authorize the 

President to negotiate with Project Deer as discussed in Executive Session. 
 
  

29



 

BCDC Minutes – Special Meeting 
July 6, 2023 

Chairman Moser called for a vote. The motion passed with the Board voting as follows: 
 

Chairman Charles Moser    Yes 
Vice Chairman Darrell Blum    Yes 
Board Member Bill Betts    Yes 
Board Member Gary Crocker    Yes 
Board Member John Hasskarl    Yes 
Board Member Jim Kolkhorst   Yes 
Board Member Ken Miller    Yes 

 
6. Discuss and Possibly Act Upon the Possible Sale, Exchange, Transfer and/or 

Acquisition of Real Property and Associated Matters Concerning Project Color Guard 
in the Southwest Industrial Park, Section III, in the City of Brenham, Texas and 
Authorize the President to Negotiate and Execute Any Necessary Documentation 

 
A motion was made by John Hasskarl and seconded by Ken Miller to authorize the 

President to negotiate with Project Color Guard as discussed in Executive Session. 
 

Chairman Moser called for a vote. The motion passed with the Board voting as follows: 
 

Chairman Charles Moser    Yes 
Vice Chairman Darrell Blum    Yes 
Board Member Bill Betts    Yes 
Board Member Gary Crocker    Yes 
Board Member John Hasskarl    Yes 
Board Member Jim Kolkhorst   Yes 
Board Member Ken Miller    Yes 

 
 
The meeting was adjourned. 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Charles Moser 
Chairman 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Jeana Bellinger, TRMC, CMC 
City Secretary/BCDC Secretary 
 

30



 
MEMORANDUM 
 
To:   Brenham Community Development Corporation (BCDC)   
   Board of Directors  
 
From:   Teresa Rosales, Economic & Community Development Director 
 
Subject:  Brenham Kitchens Update 
 
Date:   August 3, 2023 
 
 
A conversation was recently had with Brian Smith, owner of Brenham Kitchens, with respect to 
his intention to construct a building on the property located on that certain 2.787 acre tract or 
parcel of land noted as Lot 4B-2 on the attached Exhibit A. 
 
Since the purchase, he has researched cost estimates for construction and due to economic 
concerns, especially those related to increased interest rates, he does not foresee being able to 
afford to build now or anytime in the foreseeable future.  
 
This property was sold for $139,350 and consummated on February 24, 2022. 
 
Staff is requesting board direction on developing steps to repurchase property. 
 
 
 
 
 

31



32


	BCDC Agenda - DRAFT (8-8-23)
	(1) CM Memo for BCDC FY24 Budget Follow-Up
	(2) BCDC -Bovey  Memo - Admin Expenses - Parks & Rec Projects w Attachment (8-1-23)
	Bovey & Cochran, PLLC
	RE: Reimbursement Payment for Administrative Support Costs

	(3) Parks and Rec Revenues
	(4) Aquatics FY2023-24
	(5) Parks FY2023-24
	BWCoED Memo 08032023 D Bar
	(1) BWCoED Memo 08032023 Irby Lease
	(2) Irby Letter
	(1) Minutes 04-20-2023 - DRAFT
	(2) Minutes 06-22-2023 - DRAFT
	(3) Minutes 07-6-2023 - DRAFT
	(1) BWCoED Memo 08032023 Brenham Kitchens
	(2) Exhibit A Plat



